#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-2205

On Appeal from a Final Order of The Florida Public Service Commission

BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

E. LEON JACOBS, JR., et al.,

Appellees.

### INITIAL BRIEF OF BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Stephen H. Grimes Holland & Knight LLP P. O. Drawer 810 Tallahassee, Florida 32302

and

Raoul G. Cantero, III Adorno & Zeder, P.A. 2601 S. Bayshore Drive, Suite 1600 Miami, Florida 33133 Counsel for Appellant

### **

### **INTRODUCTION**

BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. ("BellSouth") appeals a decision of the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission") (1) requiring BellSouth to discontinue assessing its 1.5% interest carrying charge designed to recover the loss of the use of money associated with delinquent payments greater than \$6.00; and (2) ordering BellSouth to make refunds to those customers that have been assessed with such charges. (R-438.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### A. The Commission's 1986 Approval of BellSouth's Charge to Recover Costs Incurred in Recouping Past-Due Balances

On February 3, 1986, Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company (now BellSouth) filed a tariff seeking to institute a 1.5% late payment charge on outstanding balances that existed at the time of the next billing date. (R-221). On May 28, 1987, the Commission staff recommended approval of that charge. (R-157). The staff stated that the expenses intended to be recovered with this charge were those required to be incurred by BellSouth in treating delinquent accounts and "generated by activities such as the business office making and receiving calls to delinquent customers." (R-168). In recommending approval, the staff further pointed out that the income from the late payment charge would only partially offset the costs associated with administering the collection process. (R-173). In Order No. 17915 dated July 27, 1987, the Commission adopted its staff's recommendation and approved

the late payment charge, stating that the charge would contribute to the recovery of the expenses incurred by Southern Bell "in treating customer accounts." <u>In re:</u> Review of Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company's Late Payment Charge, 87 F.P.S.C. 7:300 (1987). (R-221). Importantly, as acknowledged in Order No. 17915, the late payment charge was not intended to allow BellSouth to recover the loss of use of money associated with delinquent payments; rather, it was solely intended to recover the expenses incurred in recouping past-due payments. (R-221).

### **B.** The Price Regulation Statute

In 1996, the Florida Legislature enacted a statute, Section 364.051, Florida Statutes (1995), which replaced the traditional rate-of-return form of telephone regulation with what is commonly known as "price cap" regulation. As the name suggests, under price cap regulation, the Commission does not limit the rate of return that BellSouth may obtain for its service; rather, it simply "caps" the price that BellSouth can charge for certain services.

Under the price regulation statute, the Commission has the authority to regulate the price of two kinds of telephone services: (1) "basic local service" pursuant to Section 364.051(2), and (2) "nonbasic service" pursuant to Section 364.051(5)(a).<sup>1</sup>

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Commission also has the authority to regulate the price of network access services under Section 364.163, Florida Statutes (2001), but this statute is not at issue in this appeal.

Basic local service is not at issue in this case. As defined in Section 364.42(8), Florida Statutes (1999):

'Nonbasic service' means any <u>telecommunications service</u> provided by a local exchange telecommunications company other than a basic local telecommunications service, a local interconnection arrangement described in s. 364.16, or a network access service described in s. 364.163. (emphasis added).

This definition is central to this case, because if a charge or price imposed by BellSouth is not a charge for "nonbasic service," then the Commission has no authority to regulate the charge. If, however, a service does qualify as a "nonbasic service," certain price limitations apply. In particular, Section 364.051(5)(a), Florida Statutes (2000),<sup>2</sup> states in pertinent part:

- (5) NONBASIC SERVICES.—Price regulation of nonbasic services shall consist of the following:
- (a) Each company subject to this section shall maintain tariffs with the commission containing the terms, conditions, and rates for each of its nonbasic services, and may set or change, on 15 days' notice, the rate for each of its nonbasic services, except that a price increase for any nonbasic service category shall not exceed 6 percent within a 12-month period until there is another provider providing local telecommunications service in an exchange area at which time the price for any nonbasic service category may be increased in an amount not to exceed 20 percent within a 12-month period, and the rate shall be presumptively valid.

### C. BellSouth's New Interest Carrying Charge

3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> When the tariff amendment at issue in this case was filed in 1999, this section was designated as 364.051(6)(a). The section was renumbered as Section 364.051(5)(a), but not amended, by Chapter 2000-334, Laws of Florida. Because the Commission has referred to the statute as 364.051(5)(a), it will be designated in that manner throughout this brief.

On July 7, 1999, BellSouth filed a tariff amendment to (1) restructure its late payment charge, and (2) institute a new 1.5% interest carrying charge on delinquent accounts. (R-455). The late payment charge was changed to a flat rate fee of \$1.50 for residential customers and \$9.00 for business customers for past due accounts greater than \$6.00. (R-455). The interest carrying charge applied only to past due accounts greater than \$6.00 (R-455). The new interest carrying charge was intended to recover a different set of expenses than had been recovered through the late payment charge. (R-455). Instead of seeking to recover collection-related expenses (e.g., calls and letters seeking to prompt payment), the new interest carrying charge was designed to recover the loss of use of money associated with delinquent payments, such as the cost of borrowing money to meet cash flow needs or loss of interest that would have been earned had timely payment been made. (R-455). Prior to this tariff revision, BellSouth did not impose any charges to recover the loss of use of money. The tariff became effective on August 28, 1999. (R-438).

On June 29, 2000, the Commission staff recommended that BellSouth's tariff amendment be cancelled and that BellSouth be required to provide refunds to all affected customers. (R-225). By Order No. PSC-001357-PAA-TL, issued on July 27, 2000, the Commission issued a Notice of Proposed Agency Action, tentatively finding that BellSouth's July 9, 1999, tariff filing violated Section 364.051(5)(a), the price cap statute for nonbasic services. In re: Investigation to determine whether BellSouth

Telecommunications, Inc.'s tariff filing to restructure its late payment charge is in violation of Section 364.051, F.S., 00 F.P.S.C. 7:316 (2000). (R-34). The Commission's rationale was that the restructured flat rate late payment charge and the new interest carrying charge, when considered together, were in excess of the 6% price increase for any nonbasic service category permitted by Section 364.051(5)(a). (R-34).

BellSouth filed a timely petition for a formal Commission hearing pursuant to Section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes (1999). (R-44). The Office of Public Counsel filed a Notice of Intervention. (R-60). Thereafter, the parties informed the Commission that they could enter into a joint stipulation of the facts constituting the evidentiary record and requested that the case proceed pursuant to the informal hearing process set forth in Section 120.57(2), Florida Statutes (1999). (R-62, 67). Thus, the Commission cancelled the formal hearing that had been scheduled originally and directed the parties to file briefs on the legal propriety of the tariff amendment. (R-96, 105). The parties subsequently filed a joint stipulation of the record. (R-131).

In its brief before the Commission, BellSouth argued that the 1.5% interest carrying charge was not a "nonbasic telecommunications service" as contemplated by Section 364.051(5)(a) because it was not a "service" of any kind, much less a "telecommunications service," which is required by the statute. Rather, it was simply a charge (similar to a late charge on a credit card bill) used to recover the loss of the

use of money. (R-118-124). Further, BellSouth argued that if the carrying charge is a nonbasic telecommunications service, it was a new service not subject to the 6% price increase limitation under Section 364.051(5)(a). (R-124-129).

In Final Order No. PSC-01-1769-FOF-TL, issued August 30, 2001, the Commission rejected BellSouth's position by holding that the 1.5% carrying charge is a nonbasic service subject to the price regulation statute. <u>In re: Investigation to</u> determine whether BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc.'s tariff filing to restructure its late payment charge is in violation of Section 364.051, F.S., 01 F.P.S.C. 8:348, 358 (2001). (R-438). In addition, the Commission held that the 1.5% carrying charge is not a new service but rather an expansion of the restructured late payment fee. Id. (R-438). Thus, because it determined that the interest carrying charge together with the late payment charge exceeded the allowable price increase for any nonbasic service category, the Commission held that the charge violated Section 364.051(5)(a) and ordered BellSouth to discontinue assessing the 1.5% interest carrying charge and make appropriate refunds of monies already collected. <u>Id</u>. (R-438). The Commission did, however, uphold the new late payment fee of \$1.50 for residential customers and \$9.00 for business customers for past due accounts, because, as restructured, it did not violate the 6% price increase cap. Id. (R-438).

BellSouth filed a timely appeal from the Final Order of the Commission. (R-471).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In 1996, BellSouth became subject to price regulation. Rather than being regulated through their rates of return, local telecommunications companies such as BellSouth are permitted to determine their prices subject only to limitations on the rates for basic local services and nonbasic services. The rates for basic local services are not at issue. Section 364.051(5)(a), pertaining to nonbasic services, is the statute pertinent to this appeal. Under Section 364.051(5)(a), local telecommunications companies are prohibited from increasing the price for any nonbasic service category in a 12-month period beyond certain percentages. However, Section 364.051(5)(a) places no limitations on the price for new nonbasic services.

In 1986, prior to price regulation, BellSouth imposed a late payment charge. As the Commission acknowledged, the late payment charge only partially covered the costs of collecting delinquent accounts and was not intended to reimburse BellSouth for any loss of use of the money incurred by reason of late paying customers.

In 1999, BellSouth filed a tariff amendment to restructure its existing late payment charge. It also instituted a new 1.5% interest carrying charge intended to recover the loss of use of money associated with delinquent payments.

In deciding this case, it is important to remember what is not in dispute. The original 1.5% late payment charge, which has been restructured to a flat rate fee of \$1.50 for residential customers and \$9.00 for business customers for past due accounts

greater than \$6.00, was approved by the Commission and is not contested by the Office of Public Counsel. The only charge at issue is the new 1.5% interest carrying charge for loss of use of the money imposed on past due accounts greater than \$6.00. The sole issue in this case is whether the imposition of this charge violates Section 364.051(5)(a).

Section 364.051(5)(a) only regulates price increases for nonbasic services. Section 368.02(8) defines nonbasic service as "any telecommunications service provided by a local exchange telecommunications company . . . ." Therefore, the price regulation statute cannot apply to the 1.5% carrying charge unless this charge is a "telecommunications service." The 1.5% carrying charge for the loss of use of money is neither a service nor a telecommunications service. Although the statute does not define "telecommunications service," the phrase is uniformly accepted in the law, in dictionaries, and in common usage as meaning the transmission of signals or information. Therefore, it cannot be a nonbasic service, and the Commission exceeded its authority in ordering a refund for monies collected by virtue of this charge.

In any event, even if the 1.5% interest carrying charge could be considered a telecommunications service, the Commission is still without authority to regulate it. The Commission has acknowledged that Section 364.051(5)(a) is not applicable to new nonbasic service charges. The 1986 late payment charge covers only the costs associated with collecting late payments. Therefore, because the 1.5% interest

carrying charge is directed only to covering the loss of the use of the money occasioned by delinquent accounts, it is necessarily a new nonbasic service, which is not subject to regulation under the statute.

Furthermore, by holding that the late payment charge and the 1.5% carrying charge are one and the same, the Commission has discriminated against BellSouth contrary to Section 364.051(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1999), because other telecommunications companies, which have not previously imposed such charges, can now institute them at a higher rate than BellSouth will be permitted to do.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case was decided on a joint stipulation of facts in an informal administrative proceeding pursuant to Section 120.57(2), Florida Statutes (1999). The standard of review applicable to a final order issued in a section 120.57(2) informal administrative proceeding is set forth in Section 120.68, Florida Statutes (1999). Cohen v. Department of Bus. Reg., Div. of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 584 So. 2d 1083, 1085 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). Section 120.68(7) prescribes application of different standards of review depending on the nature of the agency's decision. § 120.68(7), Fla. Stat. (2001); Parlato v. Secret Oaks Owners Ass'n, 793 So. 2d 1158, 1162 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001); Southwest Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Save the Manatee Club, Inc., 773 So. 2d 594, 597 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Here, the Commission's Final Order adjudicates an issue of law concerning the applicability of Section 364.051(5)(a) to

BellSouth's 1.5% interest carrying charge. The applicable standard of review for issues of law is provided in Section 120.68(7)(d), which states in material part that "[t]he court shall . . . set aside agency action . . . when it finds that . . .[t]he agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law. . . ." Thus, the standard of review is de novo. Southwest Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist., 773 So. 2d at 597.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. THE 1.5% INTEREST CARRYING CHARGE FOR LOSS OF USE OF MONEY IS NOT A NONBASIC SERVICE.

The threshold issue before this Court is simple: did the Commission exceed its statutory authority by expanding the scope of Section 364.051(5)(a), the price regulation statute for "nonbasic services"? Under the plain text of the definition of "nonbasic services," only "telecommunications services" may be "nonbasic services." § 364.02(8), Fla. Stat. (1999). If the Commission's finding that BellSouth's 1.5% interest carrying charge is a "nonbasic service" is incorrect as a matter of law, then the Commission's conclusion that the 1.5% interest carrying charge is prohibited by the price regulation statute and must be reversed.

Generally, orders of the Commission come before this Court "clothed with the statutory presumption that they have been made within the Commission's jurisdiction and powers, and that they are reasonable and just and such as ought to have been made." General Tel. Co. v. Carter, 115 So. 2d 554, 556 (Fla. 1995). Such deference, however, is inapplicable when, as here, the Commission exceeded its authority.

<u>United Tel. Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n</u>, 496 So. 2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1986).

It is well settled that the Commission is a creature of statute. <u>City of Cape</u> <u>Coral v. GAC Utilities, Inc.</u>, 281 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1973). "As such, the Commission's powers, duties and authority are those and only those that are conferred expressly or impliedly by statute of the State. . . . Any reasonable doubt as to the lawful existence of a particular power that is being exercised by the Commission must be resolved against the exercise thereof. . . ." <u>Id.</u> at 496 (citations omitted).

As will be established below, the Commission exceeded its statutory authority by finding that the 1.5% carrying charge constituted a nonbasic service subject to the price-regulation statute, because in doing so, the Commission impermissibly expanded the scope of the price regulation statute.

### A. Statutory Background of the Price Regulation Statute

This case turns first and foremost on the limitations that the Legislature placed on the Commission's authority in Section 364.051, the price regulation statute. The Legislature's implementation of price regulation, as contrasted to the former regulation through rate of return, reflects a philosophy of less governmental control and the promotion of market competition for telecommunication services. Fla. H.R. Comm. On Util. & Telecom, CS for SB 1554 (1995) Staff Analysis 1 (final May 18, 1995) (finding that the price regulation scheme "permits the prices and rates for services to

be regulated by market forces rather than the PSC."); see also, GTC, Inc. v. Garcia, 791 So. 2d 452, 457-58 (Fla. 2000).

As a consequence, local telecommunications companies may now determine their own prices, subject only to the limitations on the rates of basic local service, Section 364.051(2) and nonbasic services, Section 364.051(5)(a). The marketplace dictates the amount of all other prices. Indeed, the Commission acknowledged this point when it explained that if BellSouth's interest carrying charge was a new service, it was not subject to monitoring by the Commission. (R-449).

Therefore, if a charge or price imposed by a telecommunications company is not a charge for telecommunications service, whether it be basic or nonbasic service, the Commission has no authority to regulate that price or charge. There is no dispute here that the interest carrying charge is not a "basic local telecommunications service" as that term is defined in Chapter 364. The only question here is whether that charge is a "nonbasic service." As noted above, "nonbasic service" is defined as "any telecommunications service provided by a local exchange telecommunications company other than a basic local telecommunications service, a local interconnection arrangement described in s. 364.16, or a network access service described in s. 364.163." § 364.02(8), Fla. Stat. (1999) (emphasis added). If the 1.5% interest carrying charge is not a "nonbasic service," it is undisputed that the Commission lacks authority to regulate it.

# B. The Commission Erred and Exceeded the Scope of Its Authority by Finding that the Interest Carrying Charge Was Subject to the Price Regulation Statute.

The Commission found that the 1.5% interest carrying charge was a nonbasic service subject to the price regulation statute.<sup>3</sup> (R-438). The Commission based its decision on the premise that, pursuant to Section 364.02(11), "service should be construed in the 'broadest' sense of the word" and that the interest charge is a "service" BellSouth offers to delinquent customers for carrying their unpaid balances. (R-446). In order to make this finding, the Commission determined that the 1.5% carrying charge constituted a "telecommunications"

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is nothing in the price regulation statutes which gives the Commission authority to regulate interest rates. Of course, like other businesses which impose similar charges, BellSouth's carrying charge is subject to the usury laws.

service." For the reasons discussed below, the Commission exceeded its authority because, by finding that the 1.5% carrying charge was a "telecommunications service" and thus a "nonbasic service," the Commission expanded the scope of the price regulation statute and, in turn, the breadth of its own authority.

### 1. The Commission's Order Violates Basic Statutory Interpretation Principles.

The Commission erred and exceeded its statutory authority by finding that the interest carrying charge was subject to the price regulation statute, because in doing so, the Commission failed to consider and/or properly apply basic statutory interpretation rules. These rules establish, without question, that Section 364.051(5)(a) is inapplicable to the interest carrying charge because a charge to recoup the loss of use of money occasioned by late payment cannot be considered a "telecommunications service," which is essential to a finding that the interest carrying charge is a nonbasic service.

A fundamental principle of statutory construction is that undefined words in a statute should be given their plain and ordinary dictionary meaning. As explained by this Court in Rollins v. Pizzarelli, 761 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2000):

When a term is undefined by statute, '[o]ne of the most fundamental tenets of statutory construction' requires that we give a statutory term 'its plain and ordinary meaning.' When necessary, the plain and ordinary meaning 'can be ascertained by reference to a dictionary.'

761 So. 2d at 298. Under this principle, there can be no question that the 1.5%

interest carrying charge is not a "telecommunications service."

### a. The 1.5% Carrying Charge Does not Constitute a "Service."

There are many definitions of "service" in <u>Webster's New International Dictionary</u>, Second Edition. The most relevant definition reads: "Performance of labor for the benefit of another, or at another's command." Obviously, when the Legislature sought to cap the prices that local exchange companies could charge for telecommunications services, the Legislature contemplated services being provided by the local exchange company to the customer—not business expenses and losses generated by customers' unilateral refusal or failure to pay their bills. A requirement that a delinquent customer pay an interest charge to make up for what the company could have earned on the money cannot fairly be characterized as a service by the company.

BellSouth acknowledges that Section 364.02(11), Florida Statutes (1999), provides that service "is to be construed in its broadest and most inclusive sense," but the word "service" can only be stretched so far. It is well settled that, in interpreting statutes, the courts are constrained to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. See City of St. Petersburg v. Siebold, 48 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1950).

The Commission's conclusion that the interest carrying charge is a service that BellSouth renders to its customers in return for not terminating delinquent accounts is a leap in logic that cannot withstand reasoned analysis. The 1.5% carrying charge

is not associated with a particular BellSouth product or service and is triggered only by the fact that a customer has failed to timely pay a bill. Indeed, the 1.5% carrying charge is not even limited to services rendered by BellSouth, because charges imposed by long distance companies for toll calls, and state and federal taxes and fees, are also subject to this charge. Simply put, the carrying charge is a penalty—not a "service"—imposed on customers who fail to pay their bills on time. It is no different than any penalty or fee imposed by any other company for failing to timely pay a bill.

Under the Commission's analysis, any penalty imposed by a company for delinquent payment, be it by American Express, Ford Motor Credit Company, or BellSouth, could be construed as a service to the customer. Such a result is not supported by common business practices. Further, it strains common sense to find that a customer, who is charged a fee for failing to timely pay a bill, would consider that fee to be a charge for a service received rather than a penalty for failing to pay a bill on time.

The inherent flaw in the Commission's analysis is that it assumes that the customer pays the 1.5% carrying charge in return for not having his or her account terminated. The paying of the 1.5% charge is not what prevents termination of services. The customer can avoid termination of service only by paying the charge for the telecommunications service. Merely paying the carrying charge will not

prevent termination of service. Under the Commission's analysis, a customer could avoid termination of services by simply paying 1.5% of the monthly bill on a recurring basis. Such a result contradicts basic business principles and would result in the demise of BellSouth, as customers could avoid termination by paying only 1.5% of their bills. Furthermore, allowing customers to avoid termination by paying only the 1.5% carrying charge would effectively be giving certain customers free or reduced service, which is prohibited by Section 364.08, Florida Statutes (1999), and would give certain customers an undue advantage or unreasonable preference over other customers, which is prohibited by Section 364.10, Florida Statutes (1999).

Moreover, the Commission's statement that BellSouth's alternative to providing "service" through the interest carrying charge is to terminate the customer is not correct. In order to terminate a customer's account for non-payment, BellSouth must give the customer at least five days written notice, and, of course, continue to provide service in the meantime. Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-4.113(1)(f). Furthermore, BellSouth cannot terminate service in certain circumstances. For instance, BellSouth cannot disconnect for nonpayment of a dishonored check service charge. Id. In addition, BellSouth cannot discontinue service for a customer's Lifeline local service if the charges, taxes, and fees applicable to "dial tone, local usage, dual tone multifrequency dialing, emergency services such as '911,' and relay services are paid." Id.

Simply put, BellSouth is not offering customers a "service" through its 1.5%

carrying charge. BellSouth is not in the business of providing credit. Instead, that charge is a penalty for a customer's failure to pay a bill on time, which allows BellSouth to recover the loss of the use of money that results from delinquent payments. To find otherwise results in absurd and unreasonable results.

### b. The 1.5% Carrying Charge Does not Constitute "Telecommunications" or "Telecommunications Service."

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