#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC01-2205

On appeal from a Final Order of The Florida Public Service Commission

### BELLSOUTH TELECOMMUNICATIONS, INC.,

Appellant,

V.

E. Leon Jacobs, Jr., et al.,

Appellees.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Jack Shreve, Public Counsel

Robert D. Vandiver Stephen M. Presnell Office of the Public Counsel c/o The Florida Legislature 111 West Madison Street, Room 810 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1400

**Counsel for Appellee** Citizens of the State of Florida

### **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Florida Public Service Commission retains broad regulatory jurisdiction subsequent to the sweeping regulatory changes enacted in the 1995 legislative session. The tariff restructuring at issue, the late payment charge, turned upon an interpretation of the term "nonbasic services" as used in Section 351.051(5)(a), Florida Statutes. The Commission reasonably found the late payment charge to be a nonbasic charge pursuant to the statute.

Nonbasic service is a residual definition that is further broadened by the

legislative command to construe the term "service in its broadest and most inclusive sense." The Commission found that the 1.5% late payment charge was meant to enhance the cash flow to BellSouth's core telecommunications operations. Absent the core telecommunications operations, the charges could not exist. In the absence of the charges, Bell South would begin the process of termination of telephone service to its customers. The Commission reasonably found the late payment alternative to termination a "service" given the legislative command of broad construction.

The term "telecommunication service" is something more than telephone poles, or the physical plant of the company. It involves the relationship of the telecommunications company and its customers, the Florida consumers. That is exactly why the Florida Statutes grant the Commission jurisdiction over rate increases such as this.

BellSouth repeatedly identified earlier versions of tariff as a nonbasic service from 1995 - 1997. When BellSouth filed revisions to its tariff, it identified those revisions as being changed language as opposed to new language. Tariffs have the force of law and all matters therein are strictly construed against BellSouth. As such, BellSouth is estopped from claiming such tariff is a new charge.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Commission orders come this Court clothed with the statutory presumption that they were carried out within the Commission's jurisdiction and power. This Court only recently referred to this standard as a "well-established rule." GTC, Inc. v. Garcia, 791 So. 2d 452, 454 (Fla. 2000). The Commission's interpretation of a statute it is charged with enforcing is entitled to great deference and will be approved by this Court unless it is clearly erroneous. Florida Interexchange Carriers Assn. v. Clark, 678 So. 2d 1267, 1270 (Fla. 1996).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE COMMISSION ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THE LATE PAYMENT CHARGE A NONBASIC SERVICE.

As this Court has recognized, the 1995 amendments to Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, did not completely divest the Public Service Commission of jurisdiction to regulate telecommunication companies. The Commission retains broad regulatory power under Section 364.01, Florida Statutes. GTC, Inc. vs. Garcia, 791 So. 2d 452, 458 (Fla. 2000).

"Nonbasic service" is defined in Section 364.02(8), Florida Statutes, as a residual definition, encompassing "any telecommunications service" provided by a

local telecommunication company other than specifically listed services defined in statute. Thus, except for the enumerated defined activities, nonbasic service represents all of the "telecommunication service" a regulated company provides. This catch-all category is further broadened by Section 364.02(11), Florida Statutes, which states that "service is to be construed in its broadest and most inclusive sense."

Given this broad definition, the commission concluded that the 1.5% late payment charge at issue in this case was meant to improve the cash flow to BellSouth's telecommunication services' operation. Order at p. 10; (R-447). Absent the core telecommunications operations, such charges could not be imposed. Id. In the absence of the 1.5% late payment charge, BellSouth would begin the process of cutting off service to customers who did not pay their bill by its due date. The mere payment of the late payment charge will not indefinitely assure service, the entire amount owed being due and payable, however BellSouth has, by tariff, established a process that results in continuation of service during the notice and extended time for payment of the full charges, including the late payment charge. It was reasonable for the Commission to conclude this constituted a "service" to the consumers. Id. From the consumer's viewpoint, while a late payment charge of 1.5% may not be welcome news, it certainly is a better alternative than the loss of telephone service.

Telecommunications services do not end when the call is completed because

the telecommunications carrier has a continuing relationship with the customer to bill for the call and deal with customer service issues that may arise. Payment is an inseparable element of the provision of services by BellSouth. The commission recognized that "telecommunications service" encompasses this entire relationship between the customer and the telecommunications company. Moreover, this is exactly the role the legislature intended the commission to play.

See §364.01, Fla. Stat.

The expansive reach of the concept of "service," the consumer protections enunciated in Section 364.01, Florida Statutes, this Court's teachings in Garcia, supra, all suggest that commission jurisdiction is something more than the corpus of wires and poles. Rather the jurisdiction conferred by Florida Statutes speaks to the relationship of telecommunications companies and their customers. Often the Commission becomes involved when pecuniary issues are involved. Here the Commission found that BellSouth could expect a net increase of \$25,879,049 from the changed tariff. Order at 13 (R-450). BellSouth has not challenged the amount or the fact that this sum exceeds the six percent threshold of Section 364.051(5)(a), Florida Statutes. The Commission acted reasonably to protect consumers pursuant to the statutory charge it has been given.

When the Commission made its finding that the 1.5% late payment charge was

a nonbasic service, it did not write on a clean slate. As discussed supra, BellSouth itself had repeatedly classified its previous 1.5% charge as a nonbasic service. The company identified the previous 1.5% late payment charge as included in the "nonbasic service" category on October 27, 1995, November 13, 1995, and March 6, 1996. (R-314; 320; 336). Price regulation only became an option for certain telecommunication companies on January 1, 1996. §364.051, Florida Statutes It was at this time that "nonbasic services" were first identified in Chapter 364, Florida Statutes. Thus, from the time the statutory definition was enacted until this litigation, BellSouth had placed the earlier 1.5% late payment charge in the nonbasic service category. Order at p. 12 (R-449).

In June of 1997, BellSouth filed a tariff to increase the 1.5% fee to 1.63%. (R-349). Again the company listed the 1.5% late payment charge as falling under the nonbasic services category. Although this tariff was withdrawn, this does show a consistent pattern of reference to the 1.5% interest charge as a nonbasic service by BellSouth. (R-348).

The statutory command to construe "services" broadly, the duty to protect consumers and the repeated references to the 1.5% interest charge as a nonbasic service by BellSouth all led the Commission to conclude the 1.5% interest charge was a nonbasic service. This was an entirely reasonable conclusion given this information,

plus the fact that the increase to consumers well exceeded the 6% threshold for Commission action, a fact not challenged here. This Court should find the Commission acted within its jurisdiction.

Citizens assert that the Commission's decision here could pass muster pursuant to a de novo standard, but that is not what the law requires. <u>GTC</u>, supra. When the statutory presumptions are put into the mix, this case becomes even more compelling. This decision was squarely within the Commission's expertise and discretion.

# II. THE BELLSOUTH TARIFF REVISIONS HERE DO NOT CONSTITUTE A NEW NONBASIC SERVICE.

In Part II of its Brief, BellSouth argues that even if this Court were to conclude the rate increases here are nonbasic services, this Court should find such increases to be new charges. BellSouth Brief at 29. The most fundamental problem with this argument is that BellSouth in its tariff characterized the tariff language as a "change" rather than "new" language. See Order at p. 11; 14 (R-448; 451).

Tariffs filed with the commission have the force of law. <u>BellSouth</u> <u>Telecommunications, Inc. v. Kerrigan</u>, 55 F. Supp. 1314, 1318 (N.D. Florida 1999). Tariffs should be considered as contracts between customers and utilities, with all the ambiguities strictly construed against the drafter (here BellSouth). <u>In the matter of Black Radio Network v. Public Service Commission of New York</u>, 253 A.D. 2d, 22, 26, 685 N.Y.S. 2d 816, 818 (N.Y., App. Div. 1999).

Here, BellSouth, in its cover letter accompanying the tariff indicated that it was filing a "revision" to its tariff. That letter also states; "this tariff filing will revise the late payment charge for Florida subscribers." Order at p. 19; (R-456). In the Executive Summary which BellSouth touts in its brief, the Executive Summary uses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> BellSouth identifies the tariff as the "contract with its customers" BellSouth Brief at 27. The principle that tariffs are strictly construed against the utility is analogous to the familiar principle from contract law that any ambiguities in a contract will be construed against the drafter of that contract. See <u>Hurt v. Leatherby Ins. Co.</u>, 380 So. 2d 432, 434 (Fla. 1980).

the words "revise" and "change" three times and "new" only once. In the tariff itself, BellSouth makes no indication of any "new" language. There, BellSouth only indicates changed wording. (R-457-462).

Because tariffs are to be strictly construed against the drafter, BellSouth cannot now make the argument this change is new. BellSouth is precluded and estopped from this argument by its own tariff, which has the force of law. The commission correctly recognized that BellSouth was making changes to an existing tariff, not implementing a new charge. That judgment should be upheld by this Court.

BellSouth simply never convinced the Commission this restructuring constituted a new service. Order at 11; (R-448). The Commission extensively explained why it reached this conclusion. Order at 11-15; (R-448-452). Perhaps the clearest expression of the Commission quotes the Citizens, stating the "nature of the charge does not change simply by changing its name." Order at 14; (R-451).

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Commission reasonably concluded that the 1.5% charge at issue constituted a telecommunications service pursuant to Section 364.051(5)(a), Florida Statutes and that such service was not a new service. This Court should uphold that determination.